IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA
NO. 17-0183

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee

vs.

ABRAHAM K. WATKINS,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR VAN BUREN COUNTY,
HONORABLE JAMES A. DREW

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR
ORAL ARGUMENT

Alfredo Parrish
Gina Messamer
John Maschman
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn
Boles Gribble Gentry
Brown & Bergmann L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email: aparrish@parrishlaw.com
gmessamer@parrishlaw.com
jmaschman@parrishlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR
DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

Thomas Miller
Jeffrey Thompson
Julia Kim
Office of Attorney General

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. THE ACTION AGAINST WATKINS MUST BE DISMISSED BECAUSE IT WAS UNLAWFULLY INITIATED

C & J Vantage Leasing Co. v. Wolfe, 795 N.W.2d 65 (Iowa 2011)
Christiansen v. Iowa Bd. of Educ. Examiners, 831 N.W.2d 179 (Iowa 2013)
City of Des Moines v. Dist. Court of Polk Cty., 241 Iowa 256 (1950)
Kucera v. Baldazo, 745 N.W.2d 481 (Iowa 2008)
Miller v. Westfield Ins. Co., 606 N.W.2d 301 (Iowa 2000)

II. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE WATKINS COMMITTED SEXUAL HARASSMENT WITH AN EVIL OR CORRUPT INTENT

Boyle v. Alum-Line, Inc., 710 N.W.2d 741 (Iowa 2006)
City of Des Moines v. Dist. Court of Polk Cty., 241 Iowa 256 (1950)
Duncan v. Gen. Motors Corp., 300 F.3d 928 (8th Cir. 2002)
Faragher v. City of Boca Raton, 524 U.S. 775 (1998)
Farmland Foods, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 672 N.W.2d 733 (Iowa 2003)
Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Moothart, 860 N.W.2d 598 (Iowa 2015)
Lynch v. City of Des Moines, 454 N.W.2d 827 (Iowa 1990)
McElroy v. State, 637 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2001)
Nelson v. James H. Knight DDS, P.C., 834 N.W.2d 64 (Iowa 2013)
Rheineck v. Hutchinson Tech., Inc., 261 F.3d 751 (8th Cir. 2001)
State ex rel. Crowder v. Smith, 232 Iowa 254 (1942)
State v. Bartz, 224 N.W.2d 632 (Iowa 1974)
State v. Callaway, 268 N.W.2d 841 (Iowa 1978)
State v. Hospers, 147 Iowa 712 (1910)
State v. Meek, 148 Iowa 671 (1910)
State v. Roth, 162 Iowa 638 (1913)
State v. Welsh, 109 Iowa 19 (1899)
State v. Zeigler, 199 Iowa 392 (1925)

III. THE ACTION AGAINST WATKINS MUST BE DISMISSED BECAUSE IT WAS NOT INSTIGATED BY AN INDEPENDENT, IMPARTIAL INVESTIGATOR

Anderson v. Douglas & Lomason Co., 540 N.W.2d 277 (Iowa 1995)

IV. THE ACTION AGAINST WATKINS MUST BE DISMISSED
BECAUSE IT WAS INFECTED BY A CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None

V. THE ACTION AGAINST WATKINS MUST BE DISMISSED
BECAUSE THE VAN BUREN BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
FAILED TO EXPLORE LESS DRASTIC OPTIONS

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Khowassah, 837 N.W.2d
649 (Iowa 2013)

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Moothart, 860 N.W.2d 598
(Iowa 2015)

Petty v. Mut. Benefit Life Ins. Co., 15 N.W.2d 613 (1944)

VI. WATKINS IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY FEES ON THE
DISMISSED COUNTS

City of Des Moines v. Dist. Court of Polk Cty., 241 Iowa 256 (1950)

Curry v. City of Portage, 217 N.W. 705 (Wis. 1928)

Hensley v. Eckerhart, 103 S. Ct. 1933 (1983)

Oyens Feed & Supply, Inc. v. Primebank, 808 N.W.2d 186 (Iowa 2011)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to Iowa Code § 66.21, Abraham Watkins appeals his removal from the office of Van Buren County Attorney. This case should be retained by the Supreme Court because:

1. Iowa Code § 66.21 indicates cases of this nature should be heard by the Supreme Court;
2. it involves lawyer discipline, *see* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(e);
3. no court has yet considered the standards to be applied in evaluating whether sexual harassment equates to “willful misconduct or maladministration” under Iowa Code § 66.1A(1), *see* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c), (f);
4. whether an elected official is removed from office is a fundamental and urgent issue of broad public importance, *see* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d).

CASE STATEMENT

Voters in Van Buren County elected Watkins to the position of County Attorney for a term beginning January 2015. (Watkins DT 5:12). On September 29, 2016, a petition was filed seeking the removal of Watkins from office. The district court ordered Watkins removed from office on January 3,

2017, finding Watkins had committed misconduct or maladministration by engaging in sexual harassment. (App. 166-167).

FACTS

I. Background

Watkins lives in Keosauqua, Iowa with his wife, Renee Watkins, and their two little girls, currently ages 4 and 2. (Watkins DT 6:24).¹ Watkins was sworn into the Iowa bar in May 2013. (Watkins DT 5:18). He had never worked as an attorney before. Watkins has followed a nontraditional path; he has played poker for a living and lived overseas. (Watkins DT 11:1-4; TT 545:24-25). Watkins is a “personable young gent,” (TT 60:5), and is not, by his nature, politically correct.

Watkins opened a solo practice in Keosauqua, operating out of the first floor of the home he shared with his family. (TT 314:1, Watkins DT 14-19:15). The family’s kitchen, laundry, and one of their two bathrooms were on the main floor with the offices. (App. 233, 234, 239-252; TT 193:10-194:11).

¹ “Deposition transcript” is abbreviated as “DT.” The transcript from the first three days of trial is abbreviated as “TT.” The transcript from Monday, November 21, 2016 is abbreviated as “TT2.” And the transcript from Tuesday, November 22, 2016 is abbreviated as “TT3.”

Watkins and Renee became close friends with a former Bettendorf police officer, Chris Kauffman, (TT 56:18-19, 336:2), who encouraged Watkins to run for County Attorney. (TT 58:25-59:13). Watkins did so, running as a “no party” candidate. (Watkins DT 11:18; TT3 643–8, 73:11–18). He won the election and began his term as a part-time County Attorney for Van Buren County on January 1, 2015, less than two years after beginning his practice. (Watkins DT 5:12).

Renee—who has some college but also had no legal experience prior to the opening of the civil practice—works closely with Watkins. (TT 329:9-10; Watkins DT 7:8-14). She serves as an office manager for his private practice and as the victim witness coordinator for the County Attorney’s office. (TT 313).

Watkins and Renee hired Jasmin Wallingford as an assistant in September 2014. (TT 149:24-150:2). Wallingford had recently graduated from college and had never before worked in a law office. (TT 148-49). She was interested in attending law school and admired Watkins’ intellect. (TT 196:5-12; App. 267). Watkins and Renee trained Wallingford as a legal assistant. (Watkins DT 36:13). When Watkins became County Attorney, he hired Wallingford to work part-time for the County Attorney’s office in addition to working for his private office. (TT 150:2-8).

Wallingford became very close friends with the Watkins family. Their relationships developed quickly because they were the only ones in the office and had to figure out together how to manage a rapidly-growing law practice and the County Attorney's office. (TT 332:19–333:16). Wallingford agreed that part of the appeal of the office was that it was personal and that she, Watkins, and Renee were a close-knit team. (TT 194:2). Wallingford would help the Watkins' two little girls get ready in the morning. (TT 332:13). The children were often in the office. (TT 190:24-25).

The office environment was close-knit, cheerful, and relaxed. (TT 197–98). Renee described the atmosphere in the office in 2015 as comfortable and stated “we all felt like we could be ourselves around one another, just kind of like you'd be . . . around your family.” (TT 457:7; App. 237, 238). Wallingford labeled herself an “honorary family member.” (TT 220:23; App. 217). She and Renee would tell each other they loved one another. (TT 187:6). Wallingford and Watkins may have told each other they loved one another; Wallingford could not recall. (Wallingford DT 65:10-16). Wallingford was familiar with Watkins' personality and knew that he could often be quite blunt. (TT 196).

Wallingford socialized with both Watkins and Renee outside of work and took trips out-of-town with the Watkins family, including at least two

trips to an out-of-town waterpark where they stayed in a hotel. (TT 210:18, 211:14-19; App. 235-236). She had no qualms with being in her bathing suit around Watkins; nor was she uncomfortable changing into her workout attire daily at Watkins' office. (TT 210, 212:2). Wallingford shared personal details of her life with the Watkins, including various details of her romantic life. (TT 454:1–54:14). She introduced her boyfriends to the Watkins, and it was important for them to get to know the people in her life. (*See* TT 452:1 (the Watkins knew Wallingford's mother, father, brother, grandparents, and boyfriend)).

In April of 2015, Watkins hired Virginia Barchman as assistant county attorney. Kauffman had recommended to Watkins that he hire Barchman (who was one of his best friends). (TT 59:20-60:9, 89:9-24). Barchman is in her seventies and had retired from a 24-year career with the Iowa Attorney General's Area Prosecution Division. (TT2 105:23-106:10). Prior to being hired by Watkins, Barchman was retired for 5 years. *Id.* Barchman is “a very serious person” and “a woman of strong opinions” who is not afraid to voice those opinions. (TT3 160:4, 161:2, 161:22). Both Watkins and Barchman have been described as “Type A” personalities. (TT 202:6). It soon became evident that Barchman and Watkins had a significant personality conflict. (TT

202:13). Their arguments were sometimes quite heated and Barchman would curse at Watkins. (TT 207:18–207:25).

Nevertheless, the County Attorney’s office functioned apparently without any serious issues until the spring of 2016. In April 2016, Barchman became frustrated during preparations for the Gaylord trial, a domestic abuse case with, as she put it, “just really horrible facts, horrible facts.” (Barch. DT 63:9). Barchman blamed Watkins for her frustrations. (Barch. DT 64-68). Wallingford began to look for other employment around this time because she was distressed by the increasing arguing in the office. (TT 182–83).

The office grew busier during the summer of 2016. (Watkins DT 67–68). Watkins testified, “It was chaos.” (Watkins DT 80:24). It was the most stressful period the young office had ever encountered. (Watkins DT 81:11). The Gaylord case was a significant piece of the chaos; trial in that case began July 19, 2016 and concluded July 21, 2016 with a jury verdict of guilty on all six counts.² (Van Buren Case No. FECR001537).

After the trial, on July 26, 2016, Barchman became upset with Watkins and “gave it to him.” (TT2 192). She criticized his performance during the Gaylord trial and accused him for the first time of “smelling like booze”

² The jury found the defendant guilty of a lesser-included felony offense on Count I.

during the trial. (TT2 192). Due to Barchman's continued disrespect, Watkins realized he would be unable to continue working with her. (Watkins DT 92:14). Later in August 2016, Watkins contacted the University of Iowa Law School regarding a possible job opportunity with his office. (Watkins DT 92:14, 94:6). An applicant responded to that position on August 31, 2016. (App. 216). Barchman saw this correspondence and interpreted it to mean Watkins wished to terminate her. (Df. Ex. 16; TT2 206:2–206:8, 207:23–208:1).

Watkins and Renee's relationship also suffered during the summer of 2016. (Watkins DT 78:3). Renee became increasingly frustrated with Watkins' drinking. (Watkins DT 85:13). They would argue about his drinking in the evenings and the acrimony would creep into the workday. (TT 550).

On Friday, August 5, 2016, Renee left with the children to visit her mother in North Carolina because she could no longer handle his drinking. (Watkins DT 87:12, TT 68:9-69:18, 553:21-554:1). Watkins testified it "hit [him] like a ton of bricks" that he needed to quit drinking. (Watkins DT 88:4). Watkins telephoned Kauffman shortly thereafter to help hold himself accountable. (Watkins DT 90, 166:22; TT 470:23). He also met with his doctor. (Watkins DT 90). Kauffman assisted Watkins later that weekend to obtain medical care. (TT 71:4-72:19).

Watkins contacted Hugh Grady from the Iowa Lawyers Assistance Program afterwards and met with him on August 10, 2016. (Watkins DT 88:21; TT2 197:21; Grady DT 11:25-12:18). Barchman was present for the latter half of that meeting. (Grady DT 13:11-14:1). Grady recommended to Watkins that he see a counselor, attend Alcoholics Anonymous meetings, and maintain regular contact with Grady. (Grady DT 16).

Watkins acted on Grady's recommendations. (Grady DT 20:11). He has not consumed alcohol since August 5, 2016. (Watkins DT 89:17; TT 470:20, 475:23-25). He is regularly attending Alcoholics Anonymous meetings. (Watkins DT 91:13, Grady DT 20:1-11). He and his wife are engaged in regular counseling to address their marital issues and their own personal issues. (Watkins DT 91:20-91:25; TT 475:17-22). Watkins has maintained regular contact with Grady. (Grady DT 19:18).

Meanwhile, the office was left in the lurch by Renee's departure. Watkins turned to Wallingford, his friend, for support during this time. (TT 473:15-19). Renee was also communicating with Wallingford, as a friend. (TT 219:23-220:4, 473:12-19; App. 217).

Four days after Renee left for North Carolina, on August 9, 2016, Wallingford resigned citing a "hostile work environment." (App. 224). Kauffman and Barchman consulted with Wallingford prior to her resignation.

(TT 216:7-216-25). Kauffman encouraged Wallingford to write down all of her complaints regarding Watkins. (TT 225:16-23). Wallingford later retracted her resignation but was not rehired; she instead found employment with the Van Buren County Sheriff's Office. (App. 224; TT 222:1-223:8, 583:24-584:3).

Renee returned from North Carolina on August 19 or 20 and resumed working in the office. (TT 475:2-3, 573:3).

Facts specific to the sexual harassment allegations will be discussed below, within the argument.

II. Removal proceedings

The Van Buren County Board of Supervisors learned of Wallingford's resignation through Jon Swanson, who represents the county. (TT2 36:22-37:4; App. 272). The Board of Supervisors held two closed sessions to discuss Watkins. (App. 272, 300). Prior to the second closed session, Swanson retained Thomas H. Miller—a former Iowa Assistant Attorney General and Barchman's former supervisor—to investigate and advise the Board of Supervisors regarding a potential removal action. (App. 296, ln. 9-16). Miller came to Van Buren County and began his investigation with a social lunch with Barchman and Kauffman—both old friends. (TT2 211:10-25; App. 324,

ln. 13-14). Miller did not speak to Watkins or Renee as part of his investigation. (TT 474:19-20; App. 311, ln. 3-4, 329-330, ln. 24-2).

In the second closed session, the Board of Supervisors was incorrectly informed Watkins had refused the state bar's request that he seek treatment. (App. 312). The Board of Supervisors then authorized F. Montgomery Brown—who shared an office with Miller—to initiate a removal action. (App. 342-343, ln. 14-1).

Brown filed a Petition for Removal from Office on September 29, 2016, claiming authorization to do so under Iowa Code § 331.754(4). Watkins was presented with the allegations for the first time on the same day the petition was filed. (Watkins DT 106:5-107:13). By that time, Watkins had been sober for nearly two months and was working to recover from the disruption caused by Wallingford's resignation, his personal differences with Barchman, and Renee's period of absence. Watkins and Renee were working to mend their relationship.

The State amended its Petition three times before trial. (App. 12, 18, 25). The Third Amended Petition alleged five grounds for removal: 1) sexual harassment; 2) aiding and abetting a violation of Iowa Code § 123.47(5); 3) retaliation; 4) conflicts in three cases; and 5) intoxication. The State withdrew

its retaliation ground after the close of evidence, recognizing that it had failed to prove that allegation. (App. 85).

Trial was held from October 31 through November 2, 2016, then continued on November 21 and 22, 2016.

On January 3, 2017, the district court ordered Watkins removed from office on the basis of sexual harassment. (App. 166-167). The district court inferred that Watkins acted willfully, with an evil purpose. (App. 167). The district court found the State failed to prove the three alleged conflicts warranted removal from office. (App. 167). Likewise, the district court found the State failed to prove Watkins was intoxicated. (App. 168). The district court did not address whether aiding and abetting a violation of Iowa Code § 123.47(5) warranted removal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE ACTION AGAINST WATKINS MUST BE DISMISSED BECAUSE IT WAS UNLAWFULLY INITIATED

A. Preservation & Standard of Review

Watkins filed a motion to dismiss. (App. 33, 40). The Court denied this motion. (App. 45).

Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. *C & J Vantage Leasing Co. v. Wolfe*, 795 N.W.2d 65, 73 (Iowa 2011).

B. Argument

The Van Buren County Board of Supervisors empowered Brown to prosecute this action via Iowa Code § 331.754(4).

Iowa Code § 66.3 delineates “who may file” a petition to remove an official from office:

1. By the attorney general in all cases.
2. As to state officers, by not fewer than twenty-five electors of the state.
3. As to any other officer, by five registered voters of the district, county, or municipality where the duties of the office are to be performed.
4. As to district officers, by the county attorney of any county in the district.
5. As to all county and municipal officers, by the county attorney of the county where the duties of the office are to be performed.

None of the means of filing a petition under Iowa Code § 66.3 contemplate a Board of Supervisors instigating a removal action. Nor does chapter 66 empower a Board of Supervisors, acting through either an elected or an appointed county attorney, to initiate a removal proceeding. Only the elected county attorney or the attorney general—both elected officials beholden to their constituents—are empowered to initiate an action as the sole complainant.

The omission of a Board of Supervisors from the sweep of the statute is significant. The Legislature did not intend to empower a Board of Supervisors to initiate removal actions. Otherwise, it would have said so.

Kucera v. Baldazo, 745 N.W.2d 481, 487 (Iowa 2008) (discussing the interpretive rule *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*: “the express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of others not so mentioned”).

Iowa Code § 331.754(4) does not legitimize the Board’s activities. Allowing the Board of Supervisors to appoint an attorney via Iowa Code § 331.754(4) to initiate a removal proceeding would allow the Board of Supervisors control over the County Attorney that does not exist by law. To illustrate: if the Board of Supervisors believed that the County Auditor had engaged in the removable offense of extortion, Iowa Code § 66.1A(4), the Board of Supervisors could not force the County Attorney to file a removal action against the County Auditor. It would be up to the County Attorney to exercise his or her independent judgment and decide if a removal action was justified.

Yet here, the Board of Supervisors hired outside counsel to do its whim, thus circumventing the authority statutorily vested in the County Attorney. Chapter 66 contemplates prosecutors or voters exercising their independent judgment as to the propriety of official acts. It does not contemplate, nor does it allow, the Board of Supervisors to retain a hired gun (exercising no independent judgment) to do its bidding. In essence, allowing the Board of Supervisors to appoint an attorney via Iowa Code § 331.754(4) to initiate a

removal proceeding allows the Board of Supervisors to exercise the powers of a County Attorney. This is impermissible.

Allowing the Board of Supervisors to appoint an attorney via Iowa Code § 331.754(4) to initiate a removal proceeding would also create an end run around the five-voter requirement. Iowa Code § 66.3 requires five voters to instigate a removal proceeding. There are only three members of the Van Buren County Board of Supervisors. Initiating a removal proceeding via Iowa Code § 331.754(4) masks who is behind the action. Instead of signing on the dotted line as three of five registered voters, the Supervisors engaged an out-of-town middleman who is not accountable to the voters of Van Buren County to prosecute the removal action.

Further, Iowa Code § 331.754(4) empowers the Board to appoint an acting county attorney in a civil proceeding if the county attorney is conflicted, but a chapter 66 proceeding is more akin to a criminal matter than it is a civil matter. The Iowa Supreme Court has recognized removal proceedings are “penal or quasi-criminal in character.” *City of Des Moines v. Dist. Court of Polk Cty.*, 241 Iowa 256, 262 (1950). Iowa Code § 331.754(4) therefore does not authorize the appointment of a county attorney to prosecute a chapter 66 action.

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