IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 17-0183

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

ABRAHAM WATKINS, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR VAN BUREN COUNTY THE HONORABLE JAMES A. DREW, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

JEFFREY S. THOMPSON

Solicitor General Jeffrey.thompson@iowa.gov

JULIA S. KIM

Assistant Attorney General Julia.kim@iowa.gov Iowa Attorney General's Office Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5166 (515) 281-4902 (fax)

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

from the evidence." Appx. p. 166 (citing State v. Sinclair, 622 N.W.2d 772, 780 (Iowa Ct. App. 2000)). The evidence in the record demonstrated that "Mr. Watkins' inappropriate conduct was pervasive and existed over a significant period of time thereby negating any claim of mistake or an isolated lapse of judgment. His actions were clearly intentional." Appx. p. 167. Indeed, Mr. Watkins was aware of his need to conform his behavior to the Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct (Appx. p. 255 (Watkins Depo. 153:6-19)), was aware that as a lawyer holding public office he assumed legal responsibilities beyond those of other citizens (Appx. p. 255 (Watkins Depo. 153:20-25)), was aware that as an elected official he needed to be held to the highest standard of legal and ethical behavior (Appx. p. 256 (Watkins Depo. 154:8-12)), and was aware that the County handbook prohibited sexual harassment (Appx. p. 257 (Watkins Depo. 190:17-22); Appx. pp. 176-178, 179), but nonetheless engaged in sexually harassing conduct "contrary to [his] known dut[ies]." Naumann, 239 N.W. at 94. Based on the clear, satisfactory and convincing evidence, the trial court correctly concluded that "[g]iven the extent and stunning nature of [Mr. Watkins'] conduct one can,

and in the [trial court's] opinion must, infer that he was acting with a bad or evil purpose." Appx. p. 167.

In Callaway, the State petitioned to remove a sheriff for willful misconduct involving physical assaults on prisoners in five separate occasions. 268 N.W.2d 842. After adopting the trial court's factual findings, the Callaway Court agreed that the "defendant's conduct reflect[ed] a pattern of assaulting prisoners without justification." Id. at 842, 847. In affirming the trial court's decision to remove the sheriff from office, the Iowa Supreme Court explained that this was "not a case of a momentary lapse or of a few mistakes in judgment" but was "a case of repeated, deliberate brutality to prisoners." Id. at 848. Similarly, Mr. Watkins' actions set forth above do not constitute a momentary lapse in judgment, but rather exhibited a pattern of sexually harassing conduct. See Appx. p. 166 ("During his tenure as County Attorney, Mr. Watkins engaged in a pattern of conduct that is unacceptable by any reasonable standard . . . [and which most would consider to be outrageous or even shocking."). Accordingly, based on the clear, satisfactory and convincing evidence in the record, the State proved that Mr. Watkins acted intentionally and with a bad or evil purpose.

E. Mr. Watkins' Removal Served the Public Interest

The "primary purpose behind the removal statute is the protection of public interests." *State v. Meek*, 127 N.W.1023, 1026 (Iowa 1910). Here, the County of Van Buren was on notice of a complaint of a hostile work environment. Appx. pp. 193-194; TT2 40:2-42:6. Based on Ms. Wallingford's resignation letter referencing a hostile work environment, the County of Van Buren had a duty to investigate. Even Mr. Watkins agrees that once the County had notice of a hostile work environment, it had a duty to investigate it. Appx. p. 259 (Watkins Depo. 198:16-21). There is uncontested testimony that the actions of Mr. Watkins exposed the County of Van Buren to monetary liability. TT 381:4-382:4; *see also* Appx. pp. 360-363; Appx. pp. 272-299; *see generally Erickson-Puttmann*, 212 F. Supp. 2d 960.

Here, the trial court stated it did not take the removal of an elected official lightly, but reasoned that "Mr. Watkins has created a potential liability for the county and, in light of his history, there is little reason to believe he would not continue to act in the same manner going forward." Appx. p. 167. The trial court explained that "[c]itizens have the right to trust that their elected officials will not

engage in certain types of behaviors in the workplace [and] Mr. Watkins has repeatedly violated that trust." Appx. p. 167. Mark Meek testified that as a Van Buren County supervisor, his duties included protecting County employees from sexual harassment in the County from workplace, protecting monies unreasonable expenditures, and protecting the County from liability for wrongs committed by County employees. TT3 82:13-24. Supervisor Meek further testified that the citizens of Van Buren County had a right to have a county attorney that does not sexually harass County employees. TT3 82:25-83:3. Based on these duties and expectations of the Van Buren County citizens, Supervisor Meek believed that his decision to vote to pursue Mr. Watkins' removal was in the best interest of the County—a decision he still stands by. TT3 83:11-21.

The trial court correctly removed Mr. Watkins from office. Indeed, based on the clear, satisfactory and convincing evidence in the record, the sexually harassing conduct that Mr. Watkins' engaged in as County Attorney was "exceptional" and "Chapter 66 is designed for such cases." *Callaway*, 268 N.W.2d at 849; *see also Meek*, ("The very object of this statute is to rid the community of a corrupt, incapable, or unworthy official." (internal quotation and citation

omitted)). This Court, therefore, should affirm the trial court's removal decision.

III. The Van Buren County Employee Handbook Did Not Create a Contract With Watkins

Preservation and Standard of Review

Mr. Watkins did not preserve error on the issue of whether the Van Buren County employee handbook created a contract for an impartial investigator. See Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537-41 (Iowa 2002). Mr. Watkins raised this issue in his motion to dismiss and in his post-trial brief, but the trial court did not address this issue in its Order on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss or in its Removal Order. Thus, to properly preserve error for appeal on this issue, Mr. Watkins was required to file a motion to give the trial court "an opportunity to address its failure to rule on the issue either by making a ruling or refusing to do so." Id. at 539. Otherwise, error is not preserved on the issue. *Id.* Here, Mr. Watkins did not file any such motion with the trial court. Accordingly, error was not preserved. See, e.g., Boyle v. Alum-Line, Inc., 710 N.W.2d 741, 751 n.4 (Iowa 2006) (stating that "[w]hen a district court fails to rule on an issue properly raised by a party, the party who raised the issue must file a motion requesting a ruling in order to preserve error for appeal").

Mr. Watkins may argue that the trial court's rulings necessarily considered and rejected this argument when it ruled that Mr. Watkins should be removed. However, that argument must fail. As the Iowa Supreme Court has stated, the "appellate principle that we assume the district court rejected each defense to a claim on its merits, even though the district court did not address each defense in its ruling" is "not a rule of error preservation, but a rule governing [the] scope of review when an issue is raised and decided by the district court and the record or ruling on appeal contains incomplete findings or conclusions." Meier, 641 N.W.2d at 539. This assumption, therefore, "is not a replacement for the requirement to preserve error and cannot be used in this case to satisfy the preservation of error requirement that an issue on review be first decided by the district court." Id. at 540. To the extent that this Court finds that error was preserved on this issue, the standard of review for rulings on motion to dismiss is for errors at law. Meier, 641 N.W.2d at 537.

Merits

The Iowa Supreme Court has explained that to determine whether the language of a handbook is objectively definite to create a contract, the court considers: "(1) Is the handbook in general and the [at issue] procedures in particular mere guidelines or a statement of policy, or are they directives. . . (2) Is the language of the [at issue] procedures detailed and definite or general and vague . . . and (3) Does the employer have the power to alter the procedures at will or are they invariable?" Anderson v. Douglas & Lomason Co., 540 N.W.2d 277, 286-87 (Iowa 1995) (citing Johnson v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 745 S.W.2d 661, 662 (Mo. 1988) (en banc) ("The handbook was merely an informational statement of McDonnell's self-imposed policies"); Hunt v. I.B.M. Mid Am. Employees Fed. Credit Union, 384 N.W.2d 853, 856-58 (Minn. 1986) (vague language fails to provide any detailed or definite disciplinary procedure); McDonnell Douglas Corp., 745 S.W.2d at 662 (handbook "provided that the rules were subject to change at any time"; thus, there was no contract)). The court will consider these factors to determine if an employee "is reasonably justified in understanding a commitment has been made." Id. at 287.

The *Anderson* Court explained further that a disclaimer can "prevent the formation of a contract by clarifying the intent of the employer not to make an offer." *Id.* In reviewing the disclaimer language, the court considers (1) "is the disclaimer clear in its terms: does the disclaimer state that the handbook does not create any rights, or does not alter the at-will employment status?" and (2) "is the coverage of the disclaimer unambiguous: what is the scope of its applicability?" *Id* at 288.

Here, the Van Buren County handbook contains a clear and prominent disclaimer in the handbook (it is the first item on the second page, written in bold, set off in a box with the header "DISCLAIMER"). Appx. pp. 176-178. It states:

This handbook is provided for information purposes only. The policies, procedures, benefits, and plans described in the handbook may be revised by the County without prior notice. The County retains the exclusive right to change, add to, eliminate, or modify any of the policies in the handbook at any time at its discretion, with or without notice.

Appx. pp. 176-178. The disclaimer further states:

This employee handbook is not intended to create any contractual rights in favor of you or the County. This handbook is not to be construed as an employment contract or as a promise that you will be employed for any specific period of time. Employment can be terminated at any time at the will of either you or the County. Nothing

in this handbook changes the at-will nature of your employment with the County.

Appx. pp. 176-178. Mr. Watkins, moreover, expressly acknowledged that "this handbook is not a contract of employment" when he signed the acknowledgment of receipt form. Appx. p. 179. Given the explicit disclaimer, no reasonable person reading the handbook could believe that the Van Buren County assented to be bound by the provisions of the employee handbook. *See Anderson*, 540 N.W.2d at 289. Accordingly, the employee handbook did not create a contract for an impartial investigator. This Court, therefore, should not

Specifically, Mr. Watkins contends that the provision of the handbook which states that after a complaint of sexual harassment is received, the "County Attorney or the Board of Supervisors will promptly name an impartial investigator" was not followed. Appx. p. 177. The State notes that the investigator hired, Thomas H. Miller, disclosed during the closed session when he presented the findings of his investigation and no decisions were yet made on whether to pursue the removal option, that he did not interview Mr. Watkins because Ms. Wallingford's allegations were corroborated by two witnesses, had known Ms. Barchman for approximately thirty years, that he previously supervised her and considered her a friend, and also disclosed that he could not prosecute the petition for removal case himself (if the Board elected that option) due to acceptance of other employment. *See* Appx. pp. 310-311, 329-330, 324, 218, 319, 320-321.

¹⁶ The fact that Mr. Watkins was removed from office after a trial on the merits should moot his argument that the Board relied on the

dismiss the petition for removal because the employee handbook did not create a contact.

IV. Swanson and Salmon Did Not "Infect" the Removal Proceeding With Conflicts of Interest

Preservation and Standard of Review

Mr. Watkins did not preserve error on the issue of whether the removal petition should be dismissed because of Jon Swanson's and Carlton Salmons'17 alleged conflict of interest "infecting" the deliberations on possibly pursuing a petition for removal. See Meier, 641 N.W.2d at 537-41. Mr. Watkins raised this issue in his post-trial brief, but the trial court did not address this issue in its Removal Order. Thus, as discussed above in Section III, to properly preserve error for appeal on this issue, Mr. Watkins was required to file a motion to give the trial court "an opportunity to address its failure to rule on the issue either by making a ruling or refusing to do so." *Id.* at 539. Otherwise, error is not preserved on the issue. *Id.* Here, Mr. Watkins did not file any such motion with the trial court. Accordingly, error was not preserved. See, e.g., Boyle, 710 N.W.2d at

findings of an alleged partial investigator to pursue a petition for removal in the first instance.

¹⁷ Jon Swanson and Carl Salmons are attorneys for the County of Van Buren through the Heartland Insurance Risk Pool, a self-insured group composed of ten counties. TT2 35:18-37:12.

751 n.4 (stating that "[w]hen a district court fails to rule on an issue properly raised by a party, the party who raised the issue must file a motion requesting a ruling in order to preserve error for appeal").

Mr. Watkins may argue that the trial court's rulings necessarily considered and rejected this argument when it ruled that Mr. Watkins should be removed. However, as discussed in Section III (Preservation and Standard of Review), that argument must fail. To the extent that this Court finds that error was preserved on this issue, the standard of review is for errors at law.

Merits

Mr. Swanson's substantive involvement with Mr. Watkins as it related to Ms. Wallingford's resignation letter amounted to speaking with Mr. Watkins about the resignation letter, looking into the matter, preparing a draft letter accepting the resignation, reporting the initial findings to the Board, and recommending an investigation. *See* Appx. p. 230, 231-232; TT2 48:19-49:5, 49:11-50:1, 51:8-23. The mere fact that Mr. Swanson, as the attorney for the County of Van Buren through the risk pool, was Mr. Watkins' first point of legal contact does not make Mr. Swanson's presence in the closed sessions a conflict of interest that "infected" the Board of Supervisors' decision

to vote to pursue a removal action. *See generally* Appx. p. 272-299, 300-346; *see also* TT2 51:19-52:13, 53:6-15, 59:7-24. Indeed, the information Mr. Swanson shared regarding Ms. Wallingford's resignation was more procedural and ministerial in nature. *See* Appx. pp. 274, 280, 283. Of significance, Mr. Swanson and Mr. Carlton at all times relevant represented the County of Van Buren, not Mr. Watkins. *See* TT 5:1-6; TT 14:16-21, 15:20-16:20; TT2 36:22-37:4, 39:14-40:1. In any event, Mr. Swanson's presence at the closed sessions did not "infect" the Board of Supervisors' decision to pursue a removal action and Mr. Swanson's presence did not violate Mr. Watkins' rights.

Accordingly, this Court should not dismiss the petition for removal because of Mr. Swanson's attendance in the closed sessions.

V. The Van Buren Board of Supervisors Were Not Required to Pursue Other Options

Preservation and Standard of Review

Mr. Watkins did not preserve error on the issue of whether the removal petition should be dismissed because the Board of Supervisors did not pursue other options. *See Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 537-41. Mr. Watkins raised this issue to some extent in his motion to

dismiss (arguing progressive discipline should have been used under the employee handbook) and in his post-trial brief, but the trial court did not address this issue in its Order on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss or in its Removal Order. Thus, as discussed above in Section III (Preservation and Standard of Review), to properly preserve error for appeal on this issue, Mr. Watkins was required to file a motion to give the trial court "an opportunity to address its failure to rule on the issue either by making a ruling or refusing to do so." Id. at 539. Otherwise, error is not preserved on the issue. *Id.* Here, Mr. Watkins did not file any such motion with the trial court. Accordingly, error was not preserved. See, e.g., Boyle, 710 N.W.2d at 751 n.4 (stating that "[w]hen a district court fails to rule on an issue properly raised by a party, the party who raised the issue must file a motion requesting a ruling in order to preserve error for appeal").

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